IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, OF FLORIDA

DR. MARK H. FELDMAN, PRO SE
PETITIONER,

V.

STEPHEN GLUCROFT, M.D.
ET AL.,

RESPONDENTS.

CASE NO. 68,920

3DCA CASE NO. 85-1262

PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

FILED
SID J. WHITE
AUG 13 1958
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By *pb*
Deputy Clerk

Dr. Mark H. Feldman, Pro Se
1550 N.E. Miami Gardens Drive
N. Miami Beach, Fla. 33179
305-949 7273, 940-2222

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Mark Feldman is a Podiatrist licensed under Fla. Stat. Chapter 461, who practices his profession in Dade County, Fla.

In 1979 he filed a pro se complaint in Federal District Court in Miami against 17 hospitals and almost 100 doctors, most of whom are Orthopedic Surgeons, alleging violations of the Federal Anti-trust Laws, United States and Florida Constitutional violations and multiple Florida tort claims. During discovery proceedings in that case Dr. Feldman learned of proceedings the defendants in the case sub judice had instituted against him at Parkway General Hospital (Parkway). Parkway was not a defendant in the Federal case nor is it a defendant in the case now before this Court. Most of the defendants, appellees here, were defendants in the Federal case.

Dr. Feldman performed a procedure to repair a "flatfoot deformity" on a 9 year old child at Parkway. He had privileges to perform the procedure by virtue of the privileges granted to him by Parkway some years before. Dr. Feldman had been trained in the procedure and it was part of the surgical armamentarium in which he was trained in dealing with severe deformities in children repairable by surgery. Such procedures, and others, were common where he was trained as well as in other parts of the United States.

Dr. Feldman alleged that in secret the defendants conspired to and were effective in having his privileges removed to perform this procedure and in the process libeled, slandered, defamed, and denied

him his Rights under the United States and Florida Constitutions. That further, the defendants transferred their egregious conduct to other hospitals where Dr. Feldman had applied for privileges where these defendants controlled whether or not and if so to what extent privileges were to be granted. That the defendants had sought to so control his privileges at Parkway by total denial and having lost in that endeavor did in fact conspire to ruin his ability to obtain surgical privileges at the other hospitals under their control because of their hatred for the plaintiff and the Podiatry Profession as a whole. Their method, among others, was to base denial of privileges on the fact that Dr. Feldman had performed an "experimental procedure" on a 9 year old child.(R.1-12).

During preparation of the Federal case for trial, Dr. Feldman discovered documents from various review committees showing the activities of the Orthopedic Dept. at Parkway, headed by one of the defendants.(R.149-160). Discovery from North Miami General Hospital and testimony at the trial of the Federal case in 1983 showed the defendants had used the Parkway committee work as a basis to deny Dr. Feldman privileges at North Miami General(N.Miami) through defendants committee work at N.Miami. Further, the Parkway documents showed that Dr. Raskin, a Parkway committee Chairman, followed Parkway procedure and referred the case to a lower committee until the "doctor involved" was brought into the inquiry. This the defendants did not do thus depriving the plaintiff of his due process rights. Defendants knew of the Parkway bylaws which followed a course of procedure for cases such as this because of the testimony at trial of the Federal case.(R.241-255).

Appellant responded to discovery requests, (R.149-160) and the Circuit Court held hearings as the pre-trial process ensued. (R.38-39,83,142,167). Both sides submitted their Memoranda of Law in support of their positions. (R.118-125, 40-82, 84-91, 126-135,168-174, 241-255). As pre-trial hearings progressed, it became apparent that the trial Court by its rulings in chambers would not allow any evidence gathered by defendant from hospital committees to be used at trial because of the ruling in Holly v.Auld, 450 So.2d 217 (Fla. 1984) and of this Court in Parkway General Hospital., Inc. v. Allison, 453 So.2d 123 (3DCA 1984). The guidelines set out by the trial court as to what could be ascertained by production of documents or deposition as to the events and proof of allegations at trial made clear that the Holly decision barred all proof.

Plaintiff moved the Court to declare Fla. Stat.768.40(4) unconstitutional which the Court declined to do, by ruling it was constitutional. (R.138-141).

Defendants moved for summary judgment on all counts which was granted. Plaintiff appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, (R. 257), which affirmed and certified questions (267-268).

Appellant moved for clarification of Civil Rights and constitutional claims, which was denied, (R. 269). Petitioner invoked the jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case deals with fundamental rights of doctor's triggered during the process of applying to, being disciplined by, and reviewed in any capacity by one or more hospital committees. The decision by the Court will change the way medicine is practiced in Florida and perhaps the United States. At issue is whether the law as written and applied can withstand constitutional scrutiny as it eliminates, through freezing the discoverability and use in judicial proceedings, all evidence in the hospital committee review process.

The fundamental rights implicated are access to the courts, First Amendment guarantees, and due process and equal protection guarantess under the 14th Amendment of the U.S. Constitution and Article I sections 4,5 and 21.

As applied the offending statutes grant absolute immunity to all participants in the medical review committee proceedings. The victim is without power to clear his name, and to add insult to injury, plaintiffs must post bond or pay all defendants attorney's fees prior to being heard by a Court. The cause of action for defamation against a doctor is now eliminated by legislative fiat and this Court in it's Holly decision.

The courts of this State and those of the United States have long held that the lesislatures and the Congress are without power to eliminate such fundamental rights as are implicated here, without providing an alternative or passing strict judicial scrutiny in explaining the reasons for such elimination.

The case before the Court cannot pass muster for upholding the statutes, eliminating a doctor's cause of action for defamation, and granting absolute immunity to all participants in the defamatory process.

Upholding these constitutional infirmities would precipitate multiple injuries to thousands of health care professionals around the United States. Hospital privileges would be granted to a select few who "knew the right people", and would eliminate dissent in the health care industry. The Constitutional guarantees of this country cannot be for sale for each group capable of lobbying the legislatures for absolute immunity. The statutes, it is respectfully submitted, must fall.

The Constitution of the State of Florida , 1968 revision, provides in pertinent part:

"Section 4 Freedom of Speech and Press- Every person may speak, write and publish his sentiments on all subjects but shall be responsible for the abuse of that right. No law(emphasis supplied) shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech or of the press. In all criminal prosecutions and civil actions for defamation the truth may be given in evidence....."

" Section 21 Access to Courts- The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay."

These Rights are of equal force. Annenberg v. Coleman, 163 So. 405 (Fla.1935).

" Section 4 of the Declaration of Rights...so that every person for any injury done him in his reputation (emphasis by the Court) shall have remedy by due course of law..." "The normal forum for the trial of conflicting claims of right asserted under the foregoing respective constitutional sections is in the nisi prius courts, in direct proceedings, not in collateral proceedings in habeas corpus."

Annenberg, supra, has not been overruled. Holding Florida Stat. 768.131(4), now 768.40(4), (hereinafter stats.), constitutional would grant absolute immunity to all persons on the hospital committees and elevate all committee proceedings to be in effect, a nisi prius court where the accused is impotent as he could not present evidence to defend himself. Nothing in the legislative history of either statute intends that result of the law.

Petitioner recognizes that an appellate court is generally required to apply the law in effect at the time of its decision. Hendeles v. Sanford Auto Auction, Inc., 364 So.2d 467 (Fla.1978), City of Lakeland v. Catinella, 129 So.2d 133 (Fla.1961).

The statutes have been amended as of July 1, 1986 with the standard for a civil action to be eliminated absent " intentional fraud." In addition, prior to bringing such an action the plaintiff must post financial security sufficient to cover the costs and legal fees of defendants. Clearly, these costs would be tens, indeeds hundreds of thousands of dollars, if not more than a million when multiple doctors and hospitals are involved and would be a total bar to the courts in effect. Certainly this financial barrier cannot be constitutional.

Fla. Statute 768.40(3) (a) allows liability to attach only in cases of intentional fraud. 768.40(5) eliminates any ability of the accused to obtain the records or evidence to clear his name. 768.40(6) (b) mandates that a plaintiff post costs and attorney's fees of the defendant in ad vance of his case. 768.40(6) (a) allows only the defendant to recoup his costs and attorney's fees. If these sections don't violate the Equal Protection clause Petitioner could not imagine what does.

Certainly it must now be appearant the doctors who are denied hospital privileges are singled out for unequal treatment before the law. After denial the state mandates that the hospital report the doctor's failure to obtain hospital privileges to the applicable licensing board, Fla. Stat. 395.011(7), for which he cannot obtain evidence necessary to prosecuts the cause of action allowed in 395.011(8). In the event he wishes to try absent the needed evidence, the defendants costs and legal fees are paid in advance, 395.011(10) (a) & (b).

"We do not overlook the proposition that some legitimate purposes may be served by denying inmates (sic) (doctors) access to the courts, such as restricting the filing of frivolous lawsuits and preventing the disruption and administrative inconvenience necessitated by court appearances...The State of Florida, of course is not a party to this appeal to set forth and argue these considerations. Nevertheless, we find that they have been ably argued in other courts and rejected as insufficient to override the constitutional right of access to the courts. Delorme, 353 F.Supp. at 259-60
See Holman, 712 F.2d at 859-60, Thompson, 421 F.Supp. at 884-85." Lloyd v. Farkash, 476 So.2d 305 (Fla.1DCA 1985)

The statutes create favoritism towards the defendants and as such they cannot stand.

Petitioner was accused of performing experimental surgery on a child, by defendants, and who without his knowledge had his privileges to perform the procedure removed and then asserted to multiple hospitals and persons that Dr. Feldman performed experimental surgery on children. (Complaint.). Petitioner asserts the procedure was not in 1977 nor is it today, experimental, but rather a normal procedure for the repair of flatfoot deformities in children and adults. Petitioner may only clear his name and be awarded appropriate damages from defendants for their malicious acts in a court of law. He is precluded from using gathered evidence by a Fla. Statute and a ruling of this Court which bars access to the courts and grants absolute immunity to defendants. Dr. Feldman was denied procedural and substantive due process by defendants actions, despite attempts by Parkway hospital to see the bylaws were followed, wherein defendants made sure that were not. Petitioner now seeks relief from this Court.

Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 217(Fla.1984), should be overruled. The decision eliminates a doctor's ability to clear his name, when as here outlined in petitioner's complaint, vindication may be had no other way. Dr. Feldman has now been before the courts for over 7 years involving actions by defendants which took place in 1977. Even doctors are entitled under the Bill of Rights to be ensured that "For every wrong there is a remedy", Slavin v. Kay, 108 So.2d 462 (Fla.1958), Wilson v. O'Neal, 118 So.2d 101 (Fla.1960). Holland v. Mayes, 19 So.2d 709(Fla.1944),

While giving credence to legislative intent, it cannot be asserted that their power is to eliminate judicial review. Marbury v. Madison, 1 Cranch 137, 163, 5 U.S. 137, 163, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803).

As Chief Justice Marshall insisted,

"(t)he very essence of civil liberty certainly consists in the right of every individual to claim the protection of the laws."

And 32 years later the Chief Justice reinforced the concept in United States v. Nourse, 9 Pet. 8, 28-29, 34 U.S. 8, 28-29, 9 L.Ed. 31 (1835),:

"It would excite some suprise if, in a government of laws and of principle, furnished with a department whose appropriate duty it is to decide questions of right, not only between individuals, but between the government and individuals; a ministerial officer might, at his discretion, issue this powerful process.. leaving to the debtor no remedy, no appeal to the laws of his country, if he should believe the claim to be unjust. But this anomaly does not exist; this imputation cannot be cast on the legislature of the United States."

Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1(Fla.1973) controls. The legislature has not shown an "overpowering public necessity for the ~~abolishment~~ of such right and no alternative method of meeting such public

necessity." Kluger, at 4. The District Court noted that an action was abolished and upheld in Rotwein v. Gersten, 36 So.2d 419 (Fla.1948), Kluger, at 4, Feldman v. Glucroft, 488 So.2d 574 (3DCA 1986). Rotwein supra, did not deal with a fundamental Right. Furthermore the legislature specifically stated that the abolition of the cause of action was because,

"the actions have been subject to grave abuses, causing extreme annoyance, embarrassment, humiliation and pecuniary damages to many persons wholly innocent and free from wrongdoing, that they have been exercised by the unscrupulous for their own enrichment.." Rotwein, supra, at 420.

No such showing was made regarding the statutes here and as we will see infra, allowing the statutes and Holly to stand will have the result so abhorred by the legislature and noted by the Court in Rotwein, supra, and this Court in Aldana v. Holub, 381 So.2d 231 (Fla.1980), when unconstitutionality was found after the egregious assault of the constitutional rights of so many was permitted. We need not let such a heinous result visit upon the doctors of this State who apply for hospital privileges and are put upon as the petitioner was in this case.

Absent a heartbeat, breathing, being on the staff of a hospital, and or holding an administrative position in a hospital there are no requirements prior to serving on the committees covered by the "peer review" statutes covered in the Holly holding. The committees are the hospital application, credential, medical executive, hospital executive, joint conference, tissue, hospital Board, subspeciality (e.g. Orthopedics involved here) and joint review. They may have 3-15 members each depending on the size of the hospital. If upheld, the statutes and Holly grant absolute immunity to thousands of individuals in Florida,

who may remain in power for many years at any one hospital, With no judicial forum to answer to, individuals and groups in power would be free to grant or deny privileges at their whim knowing there is no accountability owing. Any procedural hearings on a rejection becomes meaningless because the information obtained to render a decision is withheld from the applicant by the statutes and Holly. This result conflicts directly with Fla. Stat. 395.011 et. seq., and in particular section (8). This statute was the sequel to Fla. Stat. 395.0653 which was enacted to enable a fairer application process which is now not possible because of Holly.

Although the Feldman Court saw the issue as one of public policy and relied on Dade County Medical Ass'n v. Hlis, 372 So.2d 117, (3DCA 1979), this case is clearly distinguishable solely because the Hlis did not need the requested documents to prove their case, whereas Dr. Feldman can only prove his case with the requested and therefore needed documents. Hlis supra at 120 n.3

"It simply offends due process to countenance a law which confers a valuable legal right, but the permits that right to be capriciously swept away on the wings of luck and happenstance." Aldana, supra @ 236, n.9

We need only look to the circumstances in Zambrano v. Devanesan, 484 So.2d 603 (4DCA 1986), for an example of what doctors are capable of doing to each other. Arguably, the medical staff meeting where the vote was taken in the case was a "medical review committee" for the statutes purposes, but the issue was never raised by either party. If it was raised, under Holly, Dr. Zambrano would have been without recourse to remedy the wrong done to him. THE MEDICAL STAFF PRIVILEGES PROBLEM IN FLORIDA,

12 Fla. St. U.L.R.339 (1984), is replete with such examples. Only in Cardia v. Holy Cross Hospital, Inc., 427 So.2d 803 (4DCA 1983) does there appear to be a ray of hope for the aggrieved doctor. The statutes conflict with Fla. Administrative Rule 10D-28.58(2)(d) which provides for due process, but is now impotent due to Holly. Certainly the case before this Court is different than Cardia or Holly, but the net effect is the same. Petitioner had the privilege to perform the procedure at one hospital, (Parkway). The defendants controlled the orthopedic department at Parkway, and North Miami General to WHICH PETITIONER WAS APPLYING. Defendants controlled the orthopedic staffs at other hospitals as well; North Shore and Biscayne, where petitioner would have applied after success at North Miami. Defendants had opposed petitioner at Parkway and lost because of petitioners credentials. Unknown to petitioner, defendants had petitioners privileges reduced at Parkway through the "experimental procedure lie" as alleged in the complaint, and then used the same lie in meetings at North Miami General, where petitioner was applying, all unknown to petitioner. Contrary to Fla. Law, petitioner was not told why his application was rejected at North Miami General. If these allegations are true, Dr. Feldman was the victim of multiple defamatory acts by defendants circulated to hundreds of persons over several years. The forum for presentation of the truth is a Court of Law, not intra hospital hearings which permit the abolition of a doctors career without recourse. We deal here with Fundamental Rights, Fla. Const. Art. I, sec. 4, 21, U.S. Const., Amend. 14, Due Process, Equal Protection.

This case involves "judicial enforcement of a discriminating legislative enactment, and therefore state action is implicated." Sasso v. Ram Property Management, 431 So.2d 204 (1DCA 1983), at 211, n.(8). The statute must be analyzed under the "strict scrutiny" standard because a fundamental right is involved. Examining Board v. Flores De Otero, 426 U.S. 572, 96 S.Ct. 2264, 49 L.ed.2d 65 (1976). First amendment rights are included, Williams v. Rhodes, 393 U.S. 23, 89 S.Ct. 5, 21 L.Ed.2d 24 (1968), as is the right of access to the courts, e.g. NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 83 S.Ct. 328, 9 L.Ed.2d 405 (1963). Such rights include those "implicit or explicit" in the Constitution. San Antonio Independent School District v. Rodriguez, 411 U.S. 1,33-34, 93 S.Ct. 1278, 1297, 36 L.Ed.2d 16 (1973).

The Statutes as applied allow for the arbitrary and capricious treatment of doctors who apply to hospitals for privileges. Some are given procedural and substantive due process and some, as petitioner here, are not. The Conflicting statutory provisions and the Holly decision of this Court prevent any evidence sufficient for the accused to defend and clear his name. A fair hearing before an unbiased tribunal is essential to due process. Duffield v. Charleston Area Medical Center, 503 F.2d 512, 517, (4th Cir.1974). "An impartial decision maker is the basic constituent of minimum due process." Ferguson v. Thomas, 430 F.2d 852 (5th Cir. 1970). As the Drucker testimony shows, (R.241-256), the treatment afforded Dr. Feldman was far different from that he would have received had he been an Orthopedist. Further, this disparate treatment

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