IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 68,920 SID J. WHITE

MARK H. FELDMAN, Pro Se, 24 1936

Appellant, CLERK, SUPREME COURT

vs.

STEPHEN GLUCROFT, M.D., et al.,

QUESTIONS CERTIFIED BY THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

Appellees.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES

FINLEY, KUMBLE, WAGNER, HEINE, Underberg, Manley, Myerson & Casey Dan Paul

Franklin G. Burt Victoria L. Baden

777 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1000 Sun Bank Center Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 371-2600

Attorneys for Stephen Glucroft, M.D., Joel B. Dennis, M.D., Lloyd A. Moriber, M.D., Melvyn Drucker, M.D., Kenneth Hodor, M.D., Robert S. Ennis, M.D., Hugh Unger, M.D. and Orthopedic Associates, P.A.

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

In fact, in its enactment of the Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1985, the Legislature created a new statutory tort for a health care facility's negligent supervision of its staff. Section 768.60(1), Florida Statutes (1985). Hospitals can not discharge their responsibilities under the Act without an effective peer review system, which necessarily entails a certain immunity to encourage full, frank medical peer evaluation.

In Rotwein v. Gersten, 36 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1948), this Court upheld the validity of Section 771.01, et seq., Florida Statutes (1945), abolishing causes of action for alienation of affections, criminal conversation, seduction and breach of promise. There, the Legislature prefaced the act by stating that such actions have been "subject to great abuses, causing extreme annoyance, embarrassment, humiliation and pecuniary damages for many persons wholly

^{13.} Feldman asserts that upholding the validity of Section 768.40 would "eliminate dissent in the health care industry" (Initial Brief, at ix). However, the courts in Holly, Parkway and Hlis recognize that the statute has just the opposite effect.

innocent . . ." Id. at 420. If this Court should find that Section 768.40 abolishes a cause of action for defamation, the policy expressed by the Legislature in doing so is at least as compelling as that recognized by the Court in Rotwein. Here, the Legislature determined that the overpowering public necessity in maintaining health care cost containment and, thus, the availability of adequate health care for the citizens of Florida, outweighed the interest of a defamation plaintiff in the context of medical review committee proceedings.

B. The Privilege Granted In Section 768.40(4) Is No Different From Other Absolute Privileges Recognized In Florida.

Feldman and Amici assert that the Florida Constitution deprives the Legislature of the power to enact absolute privileges to defamation actions (Initial Brief, at 11; Brief of Joseph W. Little, at 16; Brief of The Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers, at 22). However, absolute privileges from defamation actions are recognized under Florida law in a variety of contexts. See, e.g., McNayr v. Kelly, 184 So.2d 428, 431 (Fla. 1966) (statements of public officials in their official capacity); Robertson v. Industrial Insurance Co., 75 So.2d 198 (Fla. 1954) (statements made in license revocation proceedings before the Insurance Commissioner); Lloyd v. Hines, 474 So.2d 376 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985) (statements of state law enforcement agent as witness in criminal trial); Bell v. Gellert, 469 So.2d 141 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985) (statements made in labor grievance complaint which were relevant to that complaint); Farish v. Wakeman, 385 So.2d 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (compelled testimony before a legislative committee); Seidel v. Hill, 264 So.2d 81 (Fla. 1st DCA 1972) (statements introduced in quasi-judicial proceedings, such as worker's compensation proceedings); Greene v. Hoiriis, 103 So.2d 226 (Fla. 3d DCA 1958) (statements made in connection with unemployment compensation proceedings); Litman v. Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co., 739 F.2d 1549 (11th Cir. 1984) (publication consented to or invited by the plaintiff); Rosenberg v. American Bowling Congress, 589 F.Supp. 547 (N.D. Fla. 1984) (statements made as a result of a contractual agreement to be bound by a private organization rule).

Accordingly, absolute privileges from defamation actions are recognized in Florida. If Section 768.40(4) did abolish a cause of action for defamation for statements made in medical review proceedings, it is merely one further instance of the many absolute privileges for defamation recognized by the Florida courts.

C. This Court Should Decline To Revisit Kluger v. White.

Feldman and Amici acknowledge, as they must, that the principles set forth by the Court in Kluger v. White, 281 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973), govern the determination whether the Legislature's purported abolition of certain defamation actions, by enacting Section 768.40, is constitutional (Initial Brief, at viii, 4; Brief of The Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers, at 15; Brief of Joseph W. Little, at 17, 21, 22). Nevertheless, Amicus asserts that the Article I, Section 21 guarantee of access to courts is absolute and does not allow for the exceptions enunciated in Kluger (Brief of The Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers, at 21). Amicus, in effect, invites the Court to overrule its decision in Kluger, as well as a substantial body of authority following Kluger, and find that the Legislature may not alter a cause of action, in any way, except by means of constitutional amendment. Amicus' request for such further review of Kluger is unwarranted in this cause and, in any

event, the *Kluger* decision property analyzes the roles of the Legislature and the courts in protecting the rights of the citizens of Florida.

As demonstrated in Part I B above, Section 768.40 does not abolish a cause of action for defamation in medical review proceedings, but merely requires that a plaintiff show extrinsic evidence of malice or fraud, outside the review proceeding, in order to discover and introduce evidence from the review proceeding itself, to establish a defamation claim. Therefore, as explained by the authority set forth in Part I A above, construction of the statute does not implicate Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution and the Court need not further address the issues raised in *Kluger v. White*.

Furthermore, to the extent that the statute limits certain defamation actions, the Legislature arguably has created a statutory cause of action as a reasonable alternative to a common law defamation action and, thus, the statute would pass constitutional muster under the "substitute remedy" test enunciated in *Kluger*.

However, even if the Court were to find that Section 768.40 did totally abolish certain defamation actions, the analysis set forth in *Kluger* properly determines the constitutionality of such an abolition.

In Kluger, this Court reviewed the constitutionality of a statute which abolished certain traditional rights of action in tort for property damage arising from an automobile accident. The Court struck down the statute because it violated the right of access to courts guaranteed by Article I, Section 21 of the Florida Constitution, without providing an alternative protection to the injured party. Id. at 5. In reaching its determination, the Court held that

[W]here a right of access to the courts for redress for a particular injury has been provided by statutory law predating the adoption of the Declaration of Rights of the Constitution of the State of Florida, or where such right has become a part of the common law of the State pursuant to Fla.Stat. §2.01, F.S.A., the Legislature is without power to abolish such a right without providing a reasonable alternative to protect the rights of the people of the State to redress for injuries, unless the Legislature can show an overpowering public necessity for the abolishment of such right, and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity can be shown.

Id. at 4 (emphasis supplied).

The "overpowering public necessity" or "compelling state interest" test is a well established principle of constitutional law used to determine the constitutionality of governmental regulation which attempts to restrict an individual's fundamental rights. In Winfield v. Div. of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So.2d 544 (Fla. 1985), the Court found that the right of privacy guaranteed by Article I, Section 23 of the Florida Constitution is just such a right. Accordingly, the Court set forth the standard governing the constitutionality of the government's intrusion on that right.

[The compelling state interest] test shifts the burden of proof to the state to justify an intrusion on privacy. The burden can be met by demonstrating that the challenged regulation serves a compelling state interest and accomplishes its goal through the use of the least intrusive means. See Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 93 S.Ct. 705, 35 L.Ed.2d 147 (1973); In re Estate of Greenberg, 390 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1980).

Id. at 547. Although the Court used the "strong standard" in reviewing the claim under Article I, Section 23, the Court recognized that "this constitutional provision was not intended to provide an absolute guarantee against all governmental intrusion into the private life of an individual," Id., and held that the statute at issue was a proper governmental intrusion upon the claimant's fundamental right to privacy.

Similarly, in *Lieberman v. Marshall*, 236 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1970), the Court considered the constitutionality of state regulation which restricted the claimant's right to free speech guaranteed by Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution and, again, recognized that the right, while a basic one, is not absolute. Thus, in a proper case, it may be restricted out of public necessity.

Liberty of speech must be respected by public agents, even if the speech is angry, critical, adverse, or threatens to bring about economic harm, as in union activity. Unreasonable or improper infringements of this liberty cannot stand. . . . The exercise of liberty of speech in specific situations may be required to yield to valid state or local interest springing from public necessity. . . .

Id. at 127 (citations omitted).

The Court in *Kluger* recognized that, under compelling circumstances, an individual's right to access to the courts, however basic, must yield to the good of the public as a whole.

Upon careful consideration of the requirements of society, and the ever-evolving character of the law, we cannot adopt a complete prohibition against such legislative change.

In considering such societal needs, the Court has upheld a statute abolishing a cause of action which, though long a part of the common law and of the law of Florida, had become a destructive element in society. Rotwein v. Gersten, 36 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1948). Similarly, as demonstrated in Part II A above, the Florida Legislature, as well as the Florida courts, recognize that confidentiality in medical peer review proceedings is essential to ensure adequate health care to the citizens of Florida.

Amicus suggests that, in purportedly abolishing defamation actions in medical review proceedings, the Legislature simply weighed valid rights and protections of one class of individuals (defamation plaintiffs) against the rights of another (members of medical review committees) and abolished the rights of one group in the name of a greater good (Brief of The Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers, at 16). This is simply not the case. If the Legislature were found to have abolished certain defamation actions by its enactment of Section 768.40, it would have done so by weighing the rights of certain defamation plaintiffs against the need to ensure adequate health care to the public at large; that overpowering public necessity required the abolition of certain defamation plaintiffs' rights to access to the courts and no alternative method of meeting such public necessity could be shown. See Kluger at 4.

Because Section 768.40 did not totally abolish Feldman's defamation action, the Court need not address the issues raised in *Kluger v. White.* However, even if the Court were to find that Section 768.40 did abolish such an action, the Court need only look to the proper analysis set forth in *Kluger* to determine that such an abolition would be constitutional.

III. THE ADDITIONAL CONSTITUTIONAL ARGU-MENTS RAISED BY AMICI ARE WITHOUT MERIT

A. The Article I, Section 4 Issue Was Not Raised Below And, In Any Event, Should Properly Be Rejected.

Feldman's Complaint alleged that the surgeon Appellees defamed him by statements made in medical review proceedings and violated his due process and equal protection rights under the United States Constitution (Amendment XIV) and the Florida Constitution (Article I, Sections 2 and 9) (Statement of the Case and of the Facts above, at 5). On appeal to the Third District Court of Appeal, Feldman asserted only that Section 768,40(4) violated his federal and state due process and equal protection rights and the guaranteed access to courts provided by the Florida Constitution. Nowhere in the proceedings below did Feldman raise a claim that Section 768.40(4) conflicts with Article I. Section 4 of the Florida Constitution. Nevertheless, Amici, for the first time, raise the issue before this Court (Brief of The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers, at 23-26; Brief of Joseph W. Little, at 8-12).14

This Court has determined that, in reviewing questions certified by a district court of appeal to be of great public importance, the Court may properly review the entire decision that passes upon such a question. Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., Inc., 128 So.2d 594, 596 (Fla. 1961). However, because the Article I, Section 4 issue was never raised in the proceedings below and is not a

part of the decision rendered by the Third District, the Court need not review the question.

Even if the Court were to consider the question whether Section 768.40(4) conflicts with Article I, Section 4, Appellees respectfully submit that the question must be answered in the negative.

Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution grants to the citizens of Florida the constitutional right of free speech, limited only by an abuse of that right. It provides that "no law shall be passed to restrain or abridge the liberty of speech . . ." (emphasis applied). Amicus, by asserting that Feldman had a constitutional right, under Article I, Section 4, to bring a defamation action against the surgeon Appellees, impermissibly attempts to extend the protection of Article I, Section 4 to private, rather than state action.

It is well settled that the scope of protection accorded to free speech under Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution is the same as that required under the First Amendment of the United States Constitution. Department of Education v. Lewis, 416 So.2d 455, 461 (Fla. 1982); Florida Canners Ass'n v. State Dept. of Citrus, 371 So.2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). The Court must apply the limitations on free speech as announced in the decisions of the United States Supreme Court. Lewis at 461.

The United States Supreme Court has held that the First and Fourteenth Amendments safeguard the rights of free speech by limitations on state action, not private action. Lloyd Corp., Ltd. v. Tanner, 407 U.S. 551, 567 (1972). Because the scope of Article I, Section 4 of the Florida Constitution is identical to that of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution, Feldman has no constitutional right under Article I, Section 4 to bring a

^{14.} Amicus concedes, as it must, that the issue was not addressed by the Third District in its opinion and, of course, the issue was not certified by the Third District to this Court (Brief of The Academy of Florida Trial Lawyers, at 23).

defamation action against the surgeon Appellees for alleged defamatory statements made in connection with private medical review committee proceedings.

Furthermore, to the extent that the Legislature, by enacting Section 768.40, may have created a statutory cause of action as an alternative to a common law defamation action (see Part I B above), such enactment does not imply that the Legislature intended to extend the protection afforded by Article I, Section 4. Compare, Schreiner v. MacKenzie Tank Lines, Inc., 432 So.2d 567, 570 (Fla. 1983) (statute creating a right of action for employment discrimination against private persons employing fifteen or more persons did not impliedly broaden the application of Article I, Section 2 to private acts).

Because the issue of conflict between Section 768.40 (4) and Article I, Section 4 was not raised below and is not part of the decision rendered by the Third District, the Court need not address the issue. In any event, Article I, Section 4 does not protect the right of free speech in the context of private action and Section 768.40 (4) does not conflict with Article I, Section 4.

B. The Third District Properly Rejected Feldman's Due Process And Equal Protection Claim In A Summary Fashion.

In its opinion affirming the Final Summary Judgment in favor of Defendants below, the Third District summarily rejected Feldman's equal protection claim as "totally unconvincing." Feldman v. Glucroft, 488 So.2d 574, 575 at fn.2 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986). 15

Feldman's due process and equal protection claims were fully addressed by the trial court and briefed by the parties, both in the trial court and on appeal. *Amicus'* treatment of the issues (Brief of The Florida Academy of Trial Lawyers, at 26-27), merely reiterates the assertions of the parties in the proceedings below and provides no basis for reversal of the Third District's decision.

CONCLUSION

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